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[PUBLISH]
IN THE UNITED STATES COURT OF APPEALS

FOR THE ELEVENTH CIRCUIT

No. 12-13132

D.C. Docket N0.2:11-cr-14052KMM -1
UNITED STATES OF AMERICA
Plaintiff — Appellee
versus

JEFFREY WAYNE AUNSPAUGH
ANGELA BRYANT AUNSPAUGH,

Defendants- Appellants

Appeak from the United States District Court
for the Southern District of Florida

(July 8, 2015)

BeforeMARTIN, Circuit Judge, an@RESTANI,* Judge, andHINKLE," District
Judge.

HINKLE, District Judge:

" HonorableJane A. Restandudgefor the United States Court of International Trade,
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** Honorable Robert L. Hinklenited States District Judge for the Northern District of
Florida, sitting by designation
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This is an honestervices fraud case. On one viefithe evidence, the
defendants participated inckassic kickback schemén another view, the
scheme involved an egregious conflict of interest but no kickback. Gkdking

v. United States, 561 U.S. 358 (2010), the defendants’ conduct constituted honest

services fraud only on the first view, not the second. Because the jury instructions
would have allowed a conviction on either view of the evidence/arvat the
honestservicesconvictiors. We also vacatether convictionshat depend on the
honestservices convictions. But we uphold convictions for structuring financial
transactions not dependent on the hesestices convictions.
I

A grand jury returned a fowoountsupersedingndictment against the
appellantsleffreyWayne Aunspaugh and Angela Bryant Aunspaugh, who are
husband and wife, together with Christopher Andrew Hale. Count one charged
conspiracy to commit mail fraud in violation of U8S.C. §1349. Count two
charged conspiracy to commit money launderitg launder the proceeds of the
mail fraud—in violation of 18U.S.C. 81956(h). Count three charged conspiracy
to structure financial transactions in violation of the general conspiracy sfdiute,
U.S.C. 8371 Count fourcharged actually structuring transactions in violation of

31 U.S.C. 85324. Count four also charged that the defendants were subject to the
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enhanced penalty for structuring while violating another federal [8ee31
U.S.C. 85324(d)(2).

Mr. Hale pleaed guilty. The Aunspaughs went to trial. The district court
denied their motions for judgment of acquittal as asserted both at the close of the
government’s case and at the close of all the evidence. The court modified the
circuit’s standard honesewices instruction in light ogkilling, but the
Aunspaughs objectedssertinghat the instruction as modified still did not
comport withSkilling. The court overruled the objection.

The jury convicted the Aunspaughs on all counts and, in response to a
special interrogatory, found that the structuring in count four was committed while
the Aunspaughs were violating another federaHdahat is, while they were
committing the honestervices offense. That finding increased the maximum
permissible sentender structuring. The court sentenced each of the Aunspaughs
to 63 months in prison, the high end of the guideline ramgeach count
concurrentlyand ordered them to pay restitution. They appeal, assdrahthe
evidence was insufficient to sustdime convictions, that the honesdrvices jury
instruction was improper, and that the court miscalculated both the amount of loss
(used in calculating the guideline range) and restitutdn.Hale has separately
appealed, challenging only the restitatjgortion of his sentencalVe address his

appeal in a separate opinion.
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[l

During the period at issue, Glades Electrioferative(*GEC”) provided
electrical power in four rural counties in centffédrida GEC ha a wholly owned
subsidiary, GladeBlility ServicesInc. (“GUS”), that perfornedrepair and
maintenance services for GEC amttelatecentities GUS performed work using
its own equipment and employees but also sometimes hired subcontractors. And
GUS allowed its employees to moonlightio work on projects on their own or as
employees of othemshile not on company timeso long as the work was
disclosed ta@GUS

Mr. Hale became GUS’s general manage2d05 Before the year was out,
he began directing subcontracts to ERBase Electric, Inca corporation owned
by theAunspaughs Mr. Hale was married to Ms. Aunspaughister

EnerPhase did not perform the work under the subcontracts but instead
hired a GUS employee, Steve Rolen, to dotbek. EnerPhase made secret
payments to Mr. Hale for his role this arrangementThe Aunspaughs say the
payments were for the woMr. Hale did—providing information to Ms.
Aunspaugh for her use in preparing invoices to GUS. The government asserts the
payments were kickbacksillegal compensation for steering the work to Ener
Phase. Neither Mr. Hale nor MRolendisclosed their work for End?hase to

anyone else &US.
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Therelationship between GUS and Esiitase greatly expanded in the
aftermath of Hurricane Wilma. The hurricane crossed GEQ@/srage aiin
October 2005, shifting thousands of wooden utility poles. The Federal Emergency
Management Agency approved GEC'’s application for funds to straighten the poles.
GEC assigned the work to GUS, which initially subconaauatith a local
engneering firm Transpowerinc. Mr. Halesoon replaced that firm with Enrer
Phase. EneéPhase had a license and insurance coverage but otherwise lacked the
resources to perform work of ttkgnd. EnerPhasegain hiredMr. Rolen who
did the work using G8'’s equipment

For each of some 4,000 poles he straightened, Mr. Rolen charged Ener
Phase $75. Endthase charged GUS $22BnerPhasegenerallypaid Mr. Hale
half ofits $150 margin per poleEnerPhaseand Mr. Hale each netted hundreds of
thousand®sf dollars from this arrangement. The Aunspaughs say the payments to
Mr. Hale were compensation for work he did overseeingRdtenand preparing
invoices. Mr. Hale testified to the contrary; he said he did not monitor the work or
provide any other esstialfunction The governmenagainsays the payments
were kickbacks.

1
Federal law has long made it a crime to participate in a scheme to defraud

using the mail, 1&.S.C. 81341, or a wireid. 8 1343 or to conspire to commit
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mail or wire fraudjd. § 1349. Over a period of decaddbge courts of appeals
interpreted these statutes to include not just schemes to defraud a victim out of
money or property but also schemes to defraud an employer of its right to an
employee’s honest serviceSeeSkilling, 561 U.S. att00-01 (tracing this history).

But in McNally v. United States483 U.S. 350, 36(1987), the Supreme Court

held that the maifraud statute was “limited in scope to the protection of property
rights.” The Court added]f Congress dases to go furthert must speak more
clearlythan it has' Id.

Congressesponded by enacting 18S.C. 81346: “For the purposes of this
chapter, the terrifscheme or artifice to defraushcludes a scheme or artifice to
deprive another of the intangible right of honest services.

Congress did not define “the intangible rigiihonest services.In
Skilling, the Court rejected the assertion 84846 isimpermissibly vague,
invoking theCourt’spreferencéto construe, notondemri. 561 U.S. at 403. The
Court construed the statute to cover only the “solid core” of the heapstes
doctrine as it existed prior tdcNally. I1d. at 407. The Court variously described
that coreas consistingf cases involvingfraudulent schemes teprive another
of honest services through bribes or kickbacks supplied by a third party who had
not been deceivedid. at 404, orcasesnvolving “offenders who, in violation of a

fiduciary duty, participated in bribeyr kickback schemes.1d. at 407 The
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Court rejected the government’s attempt to extend the statute beyond bribery and

kickback schemesWe followedSkilling in United States v. Siegelman, 640 F.3d

1159 (11th Cir. 2011).

The evidence against the Aunspaughs was easily sufficient to support their
convictionsunder this construction of the right to honest serviteseviewing the
Aunspaughs’ contrary contentiathge evidencef coursemust be construed in the

light most favorable to the governmer8ee e.qg, United States v. Frank99 F.3d

1221, 1233 (11th Cir. 2010). The evidence established beyond any doubt.that
Hale steered work tBnerPhasend that EnePhaseyaid Mr. Halemore than
$200,000without the approval of anyone else at GUS or GIEEGerPhase had
virtually noability to do the work and broughtmostnothing to the tableany
assertion that GUS would legitimately have subcontracted this waitketlePhase
Is weak at best So a company that héittle prospect of getting this work on the
merits nonetheless gtite work, making a substantial prdfr itself while doing
little or nothing, and pd more than $20,000 to the employee who sent it the
work. When the evidence is viewed in the light most favorable to the government,
this was a classic kickback schemprecisely the kind of scheme that is
prohibitedunderSkilling’s construction o8 1346

To be sureEnerPhaséhad a license and insuranead it charged less per

pole than Transpower, the local contradgioerPhaseaeplaced The Aunspaughs
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suggesthis was a legitimate reason to hitrerPhase But the argument misses
anessential pointGUS itselfhad a license and insuranc®oif Mr. Rolenwas
available to do the workas he plainly was-thenGUS could have paid him
directly to do the work There was no need f&nerPhase Or so areasonable
jury could conclude.

Hiring Mr. Rolen directly would have greatly reduced the cost to GUS. The
Aunspaughs say this would have made no legitimate difference to GEC or GUS,
becauséhey were entitledatrecover from FEMA only the actual cost of
straighteninghe poles—no more and no less. On that view, any inflated cost of
hiring EnerPhasevould have been borne by FEMA, not by GEC or GB8t
there is an obvious flaw in the theerfrEMA'’s actual paymet to GEC was not
tied to the amount GUS paktherPhaseor could have paid Mr. RolerAnd this
makes no difference anyway; it is unlawful to pay a kickback to an employee, even
if the tainted transaction did not harror even benefitted-the employer.Put
differently, it is no more legal for an employee to accept a kickback in connection

with a winning transaction than in a losing or8&eeUnited States v. Rybicki, 354

F.3d 124, 145 (2d Cir. 2003) (“[A]ctual or intended economic or pecuniary harm to
the \ctim need not be established.”)
More importantlyeven ifEnerPhasesomehow played a legitimatele in

the polestraightening projectand even ihiring EnerPhasevas a good business
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arrangement for GUS-propositions that a reasonable jury wolb&hard pressed
to accept-the essential point is thBnherPhaseanade undisclosed payments to
Mr. Hale A reasonable jury could conclude that the payme&grte intended to
induce Mr. Hale to steer the contrémtEnerPhasdif indeed a quid pro quo is
required)or to reward him for doing g@f that is sufficient)

We have not decided whether a quid pro quo is required or a reward is

sufficient, and we need not do so heg=eUnited States v. Nelso@12 F.3d 498

509 (11th Cir. 2013) On either viav of the law a reasonable jury could conclude
the payments to Mr. Haleereunlawful kickbacls. SeeSkilling, 561 U.S. at 412
13 (stating that for this purpose, the definition of a “kickback” draws content from
pre-McNally caselaw and from statutes inding 41U.S.C. 852(2): “The term
‘kickback’ meansany money. . . orcompensation of any kind which is provided,
directly or indirectly, to [a contractar contractor’'s employee] for the purpose of
improperly obtaining or rewarding favorable treatmerdannection with the
contracl.”) (ellipsesadded andbrackeéd language revisgd

GUS was entitled to have Mr. Hale evaluate the issue of subcontracting
without being secretly paioly an entity seeking treubcontracand without being
secretly rewarded for his decision. GUS was entitled to Mr. Hale’s honest

services.
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The Aunspaughs are not entitled to a judgment of acquittal on the honest
services charge.

\Y,

The Aunspaughs were, however, entitled to have the jury apply the law as
set out inSkilling. They were entitled, that is, to be convicted only if the jury
found, based on proper instructions, thatgagmentso Mr. Hale were kickback

As set out above, the evidence was easily sufficiealldav a reasoable
jury to conclude the payments were indeed kickba&ut the Aunspaughs had a
contrary theory. They asserted the payments were legitimate payments to Mr. Hale
for his role in overseeing Mr. Rolen’s work afod preparing invoices. This was a
lot of money for so little work, buEnerPhasealso received a lot of money for
little work; Mr. Hale may have done as much for ¢tigre of the proceedsEner
Phasalid for itsshare One suspects this was not the first enormousiyréble
contract for work funded by a federal agency and that such contracts sometimes
have been awardexvenin the absence of a kickback.

In two respects, Mr. Hale acted improperly etfethe funds he received
were compensation for his work on the project, not kickka€&kst, Mr. Hale did
not disclose his work to GUS. GUS policy allesvemployees to do work for
themselves rather than for GY$0 moonlight—but only when they disclode¢he

work to GUS. And second, Mr. Hale steered work to a company ownad by

10
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relative—Ms. Aunspaugh was Mr. Hale’s sister-law—without disclosing the
relationship to GUS

BeforeMcNally, some courts held that seléalingand conflicts of interest
could constitute honeservices fraud. I&killing, the government asserted that
self-dealing wa still honestservices fraud. But the Court disagreédter
holding that§ 1346 applies to bribes and kickbacks, the Court continudte “T
Government urges us to go further by locating within § 1846mpass another
category of proscribed condutiindisclosed selflealing by a public official or
private employee-i.e., the taking of official action by the employee that furthers
his own undisclosed financial interests while purporting to act in the intefests
those to whom he owes a fiduciary duty.Skilling, 561 U.S. at 409. The Court
squarely rejected the governmerdigtreaty holding thas 1346does not apply to
such conduct in the absence of a bribe or kickb&scause no bribe or kickback
was f@id in that case, the Court reversed the conviction.

The upshot is clear. The Aunspaughs could be conwidtednestservices
fraudif the jury found that thgpayments to Mr. Hale were kickbaglbut noton a
finding that thepayments were only setfeding or an improper steering of a
contract to a relativeThe Aunspaughs were entitled to jury instructions fairly

presenting this issuésSeee.qg.,United States v. Rujbs9 F.3d 1151, 1154 (11th

Cir. 1995) holding that a defendant is entitled to instructions that allow

11
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presentation of any legitimate defense supported by the evidence, even if the

evidence supporting the defense is weak).

The instructiongell short because they would have allowed the {ary

convict the Aunspaughs even if the jury found that the payments to Mr. Hale were

compensation for his work on the paaightening projeetthat is, if the jury

found Mr. Hale was guilty of setiealing but did not receive a kickback

The most criital instructior—the instruction listing the elements of the

offense—was this:

For you to find the defendant guilty of this offense, the
government must prove beyond a reasonable doubt:

First:

Second:

Third:

Fourth:

(Emphasisadded.)

that two or more persons agreed to accomplish a
common and unlawful plan as charged in the Indictment,
that is, to devise or participate in a scheme to defraud
Glades Utilities Services, Inc. of its right to the honest
services of Christopher Hallkroughthe payment of a
kickback

the Defendant knew the unlawful purpose of the plan
and willfully joined it with an intent to defraud;

the scheme or artifice to defraud involved a material
misrepresentation, false statement, false pretense, or
concealment of fact; and

in advancing, or furthering, or carrying out the scheme
to defraud, the defendant used the United States Postal
Service by mailing or causing to be mailed some matter
or thing to carry out the schemedefraud.

12
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Sofar, so good: the instruction plaintgld the jurythat itcould convicthe
Aunspaugh®n this charge only if the jury found beyond a reasonable doubt that
theywillfully joined in a plan to pay Mr. Hale a kickback.

The problem arose wittine later instructiorthatdefined “kickback”:

A “kickback” includesanykind of secret paymemtr reward
a person gives to an employee who has been dealing in the course
of employment with that pers@o that the employee’s personal

financial interest iterferes with the employee’s obligation to get
the best deal for the employer

(Emphasis added). By its plain terms, this definition extends not just to a kickback
as defined irSkilling but also to selflealing—precisely the kind of selflealing
that Skilling said was not enough.

An employee who steers work to himself usually acts for his own self
interest. That selihterest often interferes with the employee’s obligation to get
the best deal for the employer. That is the very definition oftsslfing. But
under the court’s instruction, this kind of sd#alingcomes within the definition
of a “kickback.” Under the court’s instructiotimne paymensto Mr. Halewere a
“kickback” even if the payments were compensatiors@wicesactuallyrencered
on the projectrather than payments to induce Mr. Hale to steer the wdtkéde
Phaseor reward him for doing so. In short, under this instruction, the jury could

have convicted the Aunspaughs even if the jury agreed withuhspaughs’

13
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legitimatetheory of defense-the theory that Mr. Hale was paid for the work he
did, not for steering the contractEmerPhaseor as a reward for doing so.
Anotherinstructioncompounded the errott provided
Underthe law an employee representing or workiog f

somebody else, that is, the employer, has a duty, called a fiduciary
duty, to act honestly and faithfully in all his dealings with the
employer and to transact business in the best interest of the
employer, including a duty to make full and fair disalesto the
employer of any profit okickback the employee expects to derive
or has derived from working on any of the employer’s business
transactions

Thisinstruction missed the mark in at least mespects.

First, the instructiomlefined a duty much broader than that encompassed
within the Skilling definition of honest services. An employee does indeeddave
duty “to act honestly and faithfully in all his dealings with the employer and to
transact business in the best interest of the emplgust as the instruction said.
But honestservices fraud does not extend to all or even most violations of that
duty. That was the square holdingSKilling. There was no need to instruct the
jury on a duty whose violation did not constitute horsestices fraud.

Second, the instruction said an employee has “a duty to make full and fair
disclosure to the employer of apyofit or kickback the employee prcts to derive
or has derived from working on any of the employer’s business transdctions.

(Emphasis added.) There was no need to include the language “profitganin,

anemployee has a dutg disclose any profit inuring to the employee persorally
14
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to disclose any sellealing—but honestervices fraud does not extend to an
earned but undisclosed profit. The instruction compounded the risk that the jury
would convict even if it found that this scheme involved only-detiling, not a
kickback of the kind proscribed undskilling.

Thebottom line is this. The evidence well supported the assertion that the
payments to Mr. Hale were kickbackBut the Aunspaughs’ theory of defense was
that the payments were compensation for services rendered. On that view, the
payments were not kickbagk The evidence supporting the Aunspaughs’ theory
was weak but strong enough to reqtive theory to be covered by the jury
instructions. The instructions fell short because they did not require the jury to
acquiton a finding that this scheme involved only s#gfling, not kickback
Quite the contrary, under the instructions, the jury could have convicted the
Aunspaughs even if the jury found that Mr. Hale was paid for his work on the
project—that this schemeavolved only seHdealing,notkickbacks. This requires
reversal of the Aunspaughs’ honsstvices convictions.

\Y

A person commits the offense of money laundering when the person

conductsa financial transaction with the proceeds of unlawful activity and meets

other requirements. In count two, the superseding indictment charged the

15
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Aunspaughs with conspiracy to engage in money laundering. The alleged
unlawful activity was the same honasrvices fraud charged in count one.

The assertion that the payments to Mr. Hale constituted money laundering
rises or falls with the assertion that the payments were proceeds of fsamestes
fraud. As set out above, the evidence was easily sufficient to go to the jury on this
guestion. But because the horssvices instructions were erroneous, the meney
laundering convictions, like the honesrvices convictions, must be vacated.

VI

Federal law requires a bank to file a cash transaction report for a deposit or
withdrawal of cash imnamountgreater thai$10,000.See31U.S.C. §85313; 31
C.F.R.§1010.311 A bank customer commits a crime by structuring transactions
for the purpose of evading the reporting requirem&ee31 U.S.C.85324(a)(3).
Count three of the superseding indictment charged tleadi@nts with conspiring
to commit this crime, thus violating the general conspiracy statutd,3.€.

8§ 371 Count four chargedsubstantive offense15 specifictransactions that
constitutedstructuring.

The evidence established beyond any doulitMisa Aunspaugh cashed
series ofEnerPhasechecks for amounts just below the reportiaguirement
Proceeds were delivered to Mr. Hale. The evidence ofatagsoverwhelming,

indeed virtuallyundisputed. As set out more fully above, on the govertisnen

16
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view, the payments were kickbackOn the Aunspaughs’ view, the payments were
compensation for services rendered. Either way, the checks were cAstesh
transaction report would have been required for any check cashadre than
$10,000. Bystructuring the transactions as they, di¢t Aunspaughavoided the
filing of cash transaction reports.

Ms. Aunspaugh was a former baer. A reasonable jury could conclude
thatshe knewthereporting requirement. A reasonable jury could conclude further
that theAunspaughsvished to avoid the reporting requirement and structured the
transactios as they did for that very purpose. Indeed, Ms. Aunsphightold a
bank employee she would probably go to jail because of these transactions.

The Aunspaughs sathough, thaEnerPhasealrew other checks for more
than $10,000 and that this shotsydid not engage in structuring. First, they say
that a person does not engage in structuring unless “each” transaction the person
participates in is for $10,000 or less. That is just not so. To constitute structuring,
a transaction of more than $10,000 must be broken into smaller increments, each of
which typically is for less than $10,000, thus avoiding the reporting requirement.
This is what makes it structuring. But a person who once engages in a transaction
for more than $10,000 does ry#ta pass to structure later transactions with
impunity. Thus, for example, a person who makes several withdrawals for more

than $10,000 cannot lawfully change course and begin structuring further

17
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transactions in increments below $10,000 to avoid the reporting requirentent.
Aunspaughs’ contrary contentioinaws no support from the statute and makes no
sense.
SecondMs. Aunspaughiid negotiate othechecks for more than $10,000,
as the Aunspaughs emphasize. But these were not the subject of the structuring
charges. Moreover, Ms. Aunspaugh did cehthese checks. Instead, she made
“split” or “less cash” deposits, taking less than $10,000 in aadthus avoiding
the reporting requirement. She depostteglremaining proceeds into bank
accounts. A reasonable jury could concltltethis showed an intent to avoid the
reporting requirement, fully consistent with the charge that the Aunspaughs
engaged in structuring when they began having checks issued for $10,000 or less.
In sum, the evidence was easily sufficient to sustain the structuring
convictions. And thisis so regardless o¥fhether the fundgere kickback or
merely the proceeds of seléaling. As is undisputed, Mr. Hale did not tell GUS
of his relationship witlEnerPhase Mr. Hale and the Aunspaughs had a powerful
incentive to avoid disclosure of their relationshipnothing else, didosuremight
have led to an investigatierthat is, after all, one reason for the reporting
requirement—and an investigatiowas likely to bring a highly profitable venture
to an end, even if it did not result in criminal charge®re importantly the jury

was entitled to conclude the payments were not for services rendered but were

18
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instead unlawful compensation for steering the contraéherPhase The jury
instructions improperly defining a kickback affect this analysis not at all.

The Aunspaghs conted, though, that structuring can occur only while
violating another lavand that the court should have so instructed the jury. The
assertions plainly incorrect. The statutkefining the offense, 3W.S.C.
§5324(a)(3)ijmposes no such requment,nor does any judicial decision the
Aunspaughs have cited or we have found. Quite the contrary, courts have
addressed the elements of structuring without referring at all to any requirement to

show violation of another lawSee e.q.,Ratzlaf v. United State$10 U.S. 135

136 (1994) United States v. Lang32 F.3d 1246, 12448 (11th Cir. 2013)

To be surea defendant faceshigher maximum penalty for structuring
while violating another federal la(®0 years}than for structuring without viaking
another federal lab years) See31U.S.C. §85324(d)(2). Count four charged
structuring and alleged that the Aunspaughs were subjdut enhanced
maximum penalty. For that to be so, the government was obligated to prove to the
jury the factual basis for the enhanced penaltijat theAunspaughk engaged in

structuringwhile violating another federal lawseeApprendi v. New Jerseyp30

U.S. 466 497(2000)(holding that a defendant has a right to a jury trial on any
fact, other than a por convictionthat increases the maximum penalty for an

offense). The jury answered a special interrogatory finding that the Aunspaughs

19
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commitedthe structuring offenses while engaged in hosestices fraugdbut

because athe improper jury instructims on honesservices fraugthis finding,

like the honesservices verdict, must be vacate&dn remand, the Aunspaughs will

face a sentence on count four only up to 5 years, unless the government proves in a
new trial that they committed the structurioffense while committing the honest
services offense.

This does not, however, affect count three. That count charged the
Aunspaughs with violating the general conspiracy statute),.38C. 8371, by
conspiring to engage in structuring. On that charge, the maximum peasalsy
years, and violating another federal lavd hathing to do with it.So the erroneous
honestservices instruction affected the verdict on count three not atlhé
conviction on that count remains valid.

Nonetheless, weacate hesentencen count three. The court imposed that
sentence concurrently with the sentence on the other counts. Without the
convictions we have vacated, the sentence may not have been the same. Moreover,
the 63month sentence on count three exceeded the statutory maximum for that
count(though at the timef sentencinghat made no practical difference and

neither side raised the issue on this appeal

! We add one other note about sentencing. The Aunspaughs argue that the district court
improperly inferred a lack of remorse because they chose not to plead guikynainned silent
instead They argue that the court’s consideration of these things violated theirutoyrsit

20
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Vi
We need not address the Aunspaughs’ challenge to the loss determination
and restitution amount because those relate only to the ksBrggtes and money
laundering convictions that we vacate. Any necessary guidance on remand can be
taken from our separate opinion in Mr. Hale’s case, in which we affirm the court’s
restitution decision.
VIl
For these reasons, we vacate the guilty verdicts on counts one and two and
vacate the speciahterrogatory verdicts on count four. We vacate the sentences in

their entirety. We remand for further proceedings consistent with this opinion.

rights. See, e.g.United States v. Rodriguez, 959 F.2d 193, 197 (11th Cir. 1992) (noting that a
district court may weigh remorse in afeledant’s favor but must nbiveigh against the

defendant the defendant’s exercise of constitutional or statutory rightstauBe we remand for
resentencing, we do not address this issue today. The district court should ceseéen
defendants withduveighing against them their exercise of constitutional rights
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